Reprint as at 1 April 2017



Veterans' Support Amendment Regulations (No 3) 2015

(LI 2015/251)

Veterans' Support Amendment Regulations (No 3) 2015: revoked, on 1 April 2017, by regulation 8(1)(c) of the Veterans' Support Amendment Regulations 2017 (LI 2017/37).

Jerry Mateparae, Governor-General

Order in Council

At Wellington this 27th day of October 2015

Present:

His Excellency the Governor-General in Council

Pursuant to sections 7, 30, 31, 88, 96, 140, 141, 144, 157, 221, 265, and 269 and clauses 44, 46, and 64 of Schedule 2 of the Veterans' Support Act 2014, His Excellency the Governor-General makes the following regulations, acting—

- (a) on the advice and with the consent of the Executive Council; and
- (b) in relation to regulations 26C to 26E of the principal regulations (as inserted by regulation 9 of these regulations), on the recommendation of the Minister of Veterans' Affairs given in accordance with section 269 of the Veterans' Support Act 2014.

Contents

		Page
1	Title	3
2	Commencement	3

Note

Changes authorised by subpart 2 of Part 2 of the Legislation Act 2012 have been made in this official reprint. Note 4 at the end of this reprint provides a list of the amendments incorporated.

These regulations are administered by the New Zealand Defence Force.

		Veterans' Support Amendment Regulations (No 3) 2015	Reprinted as at 1 April 2017
3	Princip	oal regulations	3
4		ation 3 replaced (Interpretation)	3
_	3	Interpretation	4
5	New re	egulation 15A and cross-heading inserted	4
		Indexation under section 30 of Act	
6	15A Crass	Formula for indexation under section 30 of Act	5
6	Closs-	heading above regulation 16 replaced	3
_	D 1	Indexation under section 31 of Act	_
7	-	ation 16 amended (Formula for indexation of certain ments under section 31 of Act)	5
8	New re	egulation 16A inserted (Formula for indexation of lump surmanent impairment, survivor's grant, and child care	m 5
	16A	Formula for indexation of lump sum for permanent impairment, survivor's grant, and child care payments	5
9	Part 3	heading replaced	6
		Part 2A Regulations relating to Part 4 of Act	
		Accepted late-onset conditions	
	26A	Accepted late-onset conditions	6
	-	Transport costs for treatment	
	26B	Transport costs associated with treatment	7
	202	Lump sum payment in place of independence allowance	
	26C	Lump sum payment in place of independence allowance	
	26D	Additional amount payable if veteran's whole-person impairment increases	8
		Lump sum compensation for permanent impairment	
	26E	Lump sum compensation for permanent impairment	9
		Part 3	
	Regulations relating to Part 5 of Act		
		Veterans' independence programme	
	26F	Assessment of need	9
	26G	Services and support provided by others	9
10	New re	egulation 41A and cross-heading inserted	10
		Financial advice	
	41A	Prescribed amount for entitlement to costs of financial advice	10
11	New re	egulation 44A inserted (Transport costs associated with ment)	10

Reprinted	as	at
1 April 20	17	

Veterans'	Support A	Amendment	Regulations	(No 3)	2015

1	
4	

r			
	44A	Transport costs associated with assessment	10
12	Part 8	replaced	10
		Part 8	
		Regulations relating to Schedule 2 of Act	
		Weekly compensation	
	71	Indexation of weekly compensation applies from date of indexation	10
		Abatement of weekly compensation	
	72	Procedure for adjustments where weekly compensation subject to abatement	11
		Child care payments	
	73	Weekly entitlement to child care payments	11
		Part 9	
		Miscellaneous provisions	
		Allowances and annuity payable under Part 1 of Schedule 1 of Act	
	74	Allowances and annuity payable under Part 1 of Schedule 1 of Act	12
13 14		schedules 2A and 2B inserted ule 3 heading amended	12 12
		Schedule	13
		New Schedules 2A and 2B inserted	

Regulations

1 Title

These regulations are the Veterans' Support Amendment Regulations (No 3) 2015.

2 Commencement

These regulations come into force on 7 December 2015.

3 Principal regulations

These regulations amend the Veterans' Support Regulations 2014 (the **principal regulations**).

4 Regulation 3 replaced (Interpretation)

Replace regulation 3 with:

3 Interpretation

(1) In these regulations, unless the context otherwise requires,—

Act means the Veterans' Support Act 2014

public transport means scheduled public transport (for example, by ferry, bus, or train) but excludes air transport.

- (2) In these regulations, unless the context otherwise requires,—
 - (a) terms used but not defined in these regulations and used or defined in the Act have the same meanings as in the Act:
 - (b) the amount of any rate or other payment is the amount before the deduction of tax (if any).

5 New regulation 15A and cross-heading inserted

After regulation 15, insert:

Indexation under section 30 of Act

15A Formula for indexation under section 30 of Act

- (1) This regulation sets out the formula for the indexation of the amounts described in section 30(1) of the Act.
- (2) The formula is as follows:

$$a \times (b \div c)$$

where—

- a is the amount at the date of indexation, before the amount is adjusted
- b is the LCI figure for the March quarter immediately prior to the date of indexation
- c is the LCI figure for the March quarter prior to the quarter referred to in item b.
- (3) In subclause (2), **LCI** means the Labour Cost Index (Salary and Wage rates) (including overtime) published by Statistics New Zealand.
- (4) For the purposes of applying the formula in subclause (2),—
 - (a) the number resulting from dividing item b by item c must be rounded up or down to 4 decimal places (with 0.00005 or greater being rounded up):
 - (b) the result must be rounded to the nearest cent as follows:
 - (i) an amount of less than 0.5 cents must be rounded down:
 - (ii) an amount of 0.5 cents or more than 0.5 cents must be rounded up.
- (5) An amount that is adjusted by applying the formula takes effect on and from 1 July after the March quarter referred to in item b in subclause (2).
- (6) However, no amount is to be adjusted if the application of the formula produces a negative figure.

6 Cross-heading above regulation 16 replaced

Replace the cross-heading above regulation 16 with:

Indexation under section 31 of Act

Regulation 16 amended (Formula for indexation of certain entitlements under section 31 of Act)

- (1) Replace regulation 16(1) with:
- (1) This regulation sets out the formula for the indexation of the following entitlements under section 31 of the Act:
 - (a) the rates of disablement pension (section 56 of the Act):
 - (b) the rate of the surviving spouse or partner pension (section 66 of the Act):
 - (c) the rate of the children's pension (section 72 of the Act):
 - (d) the rate of the dependant's pension (section 76 of the Act):
 - (e) the rate of the children's bursary (section 81 of the Act):
 - (f) the maximum amount for motor vehicle grants (section 148 of the Act):
 - (g) the amount of the retirement lump sum payment (section 151 of the Act):
 - (h) the asset threshold for non-exempt assets (section 151 of the Act):
 - (i) the maximum amount payable for funeral expenses for a veteran whose death is attributable to qualifying service (section 153 of the Act):
 - (j) the maximum amount payable for funeral expenses for a veteran whose death is not attributable to qualifying service (section 154 of the Act):
 - (k) the lump sum payment to a surviving spouse or partner of a veteran receiving the veteran's pension (section 174 of the Act).
- (2) In regulation 16(2), replace the formula with:

$$a \times (b \div c)$$

8 New regulation 16A inserted (Formula for indexation of lump sum for permanent impairment, survivor's grant, and child care payments)

After regulation 16, insert:

16A Formula for indexation of lump sum for permanent impairment, survivor's grant, and child care payments

- (1) This regulation sets out the formula for the indexation of the following entitlements under section 31 of the Act:
 - (a) the lump sum payment for permanent impairment (section 98 of the Act):
 - (b) the survivor's grant (clause 53 of Schedule 2 of the Act):

- (c) child care payments for children of deceased veterans (clause 64 of Schedule 2 of the Act).
- (2) The formula is as follows:

$$a \times (b \div c)$$

where—

- a is the amount of the entitlement at the date of indexation, before the amount is adjusted
- b is the CPI figure for the March quarter immediately prior to the date of indexation
- c is the CPI figure for the March quarter prior to the quarter referred to in item b.
- (3) In subclause (2), **CPI** means the Consumers Price Index (All Groups) published by Statistics New Zealand.
- (4) For the purposes of applying the formula in subclause (2),—
 - (a) the number resulting from dividing item b by item c must be rounded up or down to 4 decimal places (with 0.00005 or greater being rounded up):
 - (b) the result must be rounded to the nearest cent as follows:
 - (i) an amount of less than 0.5 cents must be rounded down:
 - (ii) an amount of 0.5 cents or more than 0.5 cents must be rounded up.
- (5) An entitlement that is adjusted by applying the formula takes effect on and from 1 July after the March quarter referred to in item b in subclause (2).
- (6) However, no entitlement is to be adjusted if the application of the formula produces a negative figure.

9 Part 3 heading replaced

Replace the Part 3 heading with:

Part 2A Regulations relating to Part 4 of Act

Accepted late-onset conditions

26A Accepted late-onset conditions

The conditions specified in Schedule 2A are accepted late-onset conditions for the purposes of the definition of accepted late-onset condition in section 7 of the Act.

Transport costs for treatment

26B Transport costs associated with treatment

- (1) This regulation specifies the extent to which VANZ is responsible, under section 88(1) of the Act, for paying the costs of transport the veteran reasonably requires in order to receive treatment that VANZ is responsible for paying or contributing to the cost of.
- (2) VANZ must pay the veteran—
 - (a) any fares paid for public transport for a journey:
 - (b) for a journey in a private vehicle, \$0.62 for each kilometre for the first 200 kilometres of the journey:
 - (c) if VANZ approves the following costs for a journey before the veteran undertakes the journey:
 - (i) the cost of any air fares paid for the journey:
 - (ii) any other costs of transport for the journey.
- (3) In subclause (2), **journey**
 - (a) means a journey from a veteran's residence to the most appropriate place of treatment (as determined by VANZ) by the most direct route and the return journey from that place (if the veteran makes a return journey); but
 - (b) does not include any international part of a journey described in paragraph (a).
- (4) If the veteran is entitled to be paid the costs of transport by the Accident Compensation Corporation (ACC) for a journey and the amount that is payable by VANZ to the veteran under subclause (2) for the journey is greater than the amount the veteran is entitled to be paid by ACC, the amount that VANZ must pay to the veteran is limited to the difference between the costs of transport payable under subclause (2) and the amount payable by ACC.

Lump sum payment in place of independence allowance

26C Lump sum payment in place of independence allowance

- (1) This regulation specifies the amount of the lump sum payment that a veteran may elect to receive in place of weekly payments of the independence allowance to which the veteran is entitled under section 96 of the Act.
- (2) The veteran may elect to receive in place of weekly payments, over a period of 52 weeks (the **lump sum period**), an amount calculated in accordance with the formula in subclause (3).
- (3) The formula is—

 $a \times 51.6075$

- where a is the weekly rate of independence allowance to which the veteran is entitled at the time of the election to receive a lump sum payment.
- (4) An election to receive a lump sum payment under this regulation must be in writing.
- (5) The lump sum period begins on the date on which the veteran would have received payment of the independence allowance if the veteran had not made the election.

26D Additional amount payable if veteran's whole-person impairment increases

- (1) A veteran who has received a lump sum payment is entitled to an additional amount calculated in accordance with the formula in subclause (2) if, during the lump sum period, the veteran's whole-person impairment increases with the effect that he or she would have been entitled to a higher weekly rate of independence allowance if he or she had not elected to receive the lump sum payment.
- (2) The formula is—

$$[2 \times (a - b)] \times (1 - 1.000562^{(-0.5 \times c)}) \div 0.000562$$

where-

- a is the weekly rate of independence allowance to which the veteran would have been entitled immediately after the increase in the person's whole-person impairment if he or she had not elected to receive the lump sum payment
- b is the weekly rate of independence allowance to which the veteran would have been entitled immediately before the increase in the person's whole-person impairment if he or she had not elected to receive the lump sum payment
- c is the number of full weeks remaining in the lump sum period.
- (3) To avoid doubt,—
 - (a) an increase in whole-person impairment has the effect of increasing the independence allowance payable to a veteran only if the increase is caused by a service-related injury or illness that occurred in the period beginning on 1 April 1974 and ending on the close of 31 March 2002 (see section 96(1) of the Act):
 - (b) a veteran is under no obligation to repay VANZ any amount if, during the lump sum period, his or her whole-person impairment decreases.

Lump sum compensation for permanent impairment

26E Lump sum compensation for permanent impairment

- (1) The amount of lump sum compensation for permanent impairment payable to a veteran under section 98 and clause 45 of Schedule 2 of the Act must be determined according to the level of the veteran's whole-person impairment.
- (2) The amounts of lump sum compensation for permanent impairment that are payable for each level of whole-person impairment are set out in Schedule 2B.
- (3) A veteran's level of whole-person impairment in the first column of Schedule 2B is to be determined in accordance with the American Medical Association *Guides to the Evaluation of Permanent Impairment* (4th ed).

Part 3 Regulations relating to Part 5 of Act

Veterans' independence programme

26F Assessment of need

- (1) For the purpose of determining the services and support to be provided to a veteran, VANZ must assess the extent of the veteran's ability to undertake activities that are required in order for the veteran to live independently in his or her home.
- (2) If VANZ reasonably considers it is necessary in order to make the assessment referred to in subclause (1), VANZ may require the veteran to undergo an assessment in person (at VANZ's cost).
- (3) VANZ must make the assessment described in subclause (1)—
 - (a) on receiving an application from the veteran in accordance with section 142 of the Act:
 - (b) if the application is accepted, once in every year after the application is accepted.
- (4) If a person assessing a veteran under subclause (2) reasonably considers that the veteran's ability to undertake activities that are required in order for the veteran to live independently in his or her home is likely to change within the following year, VANZ may make the assessment described in subclause (1) more frequently than once in every year.

26G Services and support provided by others

VANZ is not required to provide to a veteran under the veterans' independence programme any services or support that the veteran receives from any other person or agency.

10 New regulation 41A and cross-heading inserted

After regulation 41, insert:

Financial advice

41A Prescribed amount for entitlement to costs of financial advice

- (1) This regulation prescribes an amount for the purposes of section 157(1)(b) of the Act.
- (2) The prescribed amount is \$15,000.

11 New regulation 44A inserted (Transport costs associated with assessment) After the Part 5 heading, insert:

44A Transport costs associated with assessment

- (1) VANZ must pay a veteran's or other claimant's transport costs under this regulation if the veteran or other claimant is required to undergo a medical assessment in accordance with section 221(3) of the Act.
- (2) VANZ must pay the veteran or other claimant—
 - (a) any fares paid for public transport for a journey:
 - (b) for a journey in a private vehicle, \$0.62 for each kilometre for the first 200 kilometres of the journey:
 - (c) if VANZ approves payment for air fares for a journey before the veteran or other claimant undertakes the journey, any air fares paid for the journey.
- (3) In subclause (2), **journey**
 - (a) means a journey from a veteran's or other claimant's residence to the place of assessment by the most direct route and the return journey from that place (if the veteran or other claimant makes a return journey); but
 - (b) does not include any international part of a journey described in paragraph (a).

12 Part 8 replaced

Replace Part 8 with:

Part 8 Regulations relating to Schedule 2 of Act

Weekly compensation

71 Indexation of weekly compensation applies from date of indexation

(1) Weekly compensation payable under section 100 of the Act must be adjusted in accordance with the formula set out in regulation 15A.

- (2) Adjustments made under regulation 15A apply only to weekly compensation—
 - (a) that is paid or payable on or after the date of indexation; and
 - (b) that relates to a period of incapacity for which the veteran is entitled to weekly compensation that occurs on or after the date of indexation.
- (3) Despite subclause (2), adjustments made under this regulation may be made to weekly compensation that relates to a period that occurs on or after the date that is 6 days earlier than the date of indexation.

Abatement of weekly compensation

72 Procedure for adjustments where weekly compensation subject to abatement

- (1) The adjustment under regulation 15A of weekly compensation that must be abated under clause 44 of Schedule 2 of the Act is determined by—
 - (a) adjusting the appropriate unabated amount of weekly compensation in accordance with subclause (2); and
 - (b) adjusting the amount of a person's weekly earnings, as referred to in clause 44 of Schedule 2 of the Act, in accordance with subclause (3); and
 - (c) applying clause 44 of Schedule 2 of the Act in accordance with subclause (4).

First adjustment

(2) The amount of weekly compensation to which a veteran would be entitled but for an abatement under clause 44 of Schedule 2 of the Act must be adjusted in accordance with the formula set out in regulation 15A.

Second adjustment

(3) The amount of the veteran's weekly earnings must be adjusted at the date of indexation in accordance with the formula set out in regulation 15A.

Third adjustment

(4) The amount of abated weekly compensation payable must be calculated in accordance with clause 44 of Schedule 2 of the Act, using the amounts as adjusted by subclauses (2) and (3).

Child care payments

Weekly entitlement to child care payments

- (1) This regulation specifies the amount of the weekly entitlement to payment for child care that is payable under clause 64 of Schedule 2 of the Act.
- (2) The weekly entitlement to payment for child care per child is as follows:
 - (a) if the number of children of a deceased veteran entitled to payment for child care is 1, \$164.72:

- (b) if the number of children of a deceased veteran entitled to payment for child care is 2, \$98.82:
- (c) if the number of children of a deceased veteran entitled to payment for child care is 3 or more, \$230.62 divided by the number of children of the veteran for whom payment is being made.

Part 9 Miscellaneous provisions

Allowances and annuity payable under Part 1 of Schedule 1 of Act

74 Allowances and annuity payable under Part 1 of Schedule 1 of Act

- (1) This regulation applies to the allowances and the annuity that are described in the first column of Schedule 3 and that are payable in accordance with Part 1 of Schedule 1 of the Act.
- (2) For the purposes of Schedule 1 of the Act, the amount or maximum rate of an allowance or annuity to which this regulation applies is the amount or maximum rate specified in the second column alongside the description of the allowance or annuity.

13 New Schedules 2A and 2B inserted

After Schedule 2, insert the Schedules 2A and 2B set out in the Schedule of these regulations.

14 Schedule 3 heading amended

In the Schedule 3 heading, replace "r 70A" with "r 74".

Schedule New Schedules 2A and 2B inserted

r 13

Schedule 2A Accepted late-onset conditions

r 26A

Condition

acoustic neuroma

acute infectious mononucleosis

acute lymphoblastic leukaemia

acute myeloid leukaemia

acute pancreatitis

acute rheumatic fever

acute stress disorder

adenocarcinoma of the kidney

adjustment disorder

adrenal insufficiency

alcohol use disorder

alpha-1 antitrypsin deficiency

alzheimer-type dementia

analgesic nephropathy

animal envenomation

anxiety disorder

aortic aneurysm

aortic stenosis

aplastic anaemia

asbestosis

ascariasis

asthma

atherosclerotic peripheral vascular disease

atrial fibrillation and atrial flutter

autosomal dominant polycystic kidney disease

bipolar disorder

bronchiectasis

cardiac myxoma

cardiomyopathy

carotid arterial disease

cerebral meningioma

cerebrovascular accident

Charcot-Marie-Tooth disease

chicken pox

cholelithiasis

chronic lymphocytic leukaemia/small lymphocytic lymphoma

chronic myeloid leukaemia

chronic obstructive pulmonary disease

chronic pancreatitis

chronic solvent encephalopathy

cirrhosis of the liver

clonorchiasis

coeliac disease

colorectal adenoma

Creutzfeldt-Jakob disease

Cushing's syndrome

Cut, stab, abrasion and laceration

decompression sickness

deep vein thrombosis

dementia pugilistica

dengue fever

depressive disorder

dermatomyositis

diabetes mellitus

eating disorder

electrical injury

endometriosis

epilepsy

epileptic seizure

essential thrombocythaemia

external burn

extrinsic allergic alveolitis

familial adenomatous polyposis

familial hypertrophic cardiomyopathy

fibromuscular dysplasia

fibrosing interstitial lung disease

gastric ulcer and duodenal ulcer

Gaucher's disease

giant cell arteritis

Graves' disease

Guillain-Barre syndrome

haemochromatosis

haemophilia

Hashimoto's thyroiditis

heart block

hepatitis A

hepatitis B

hepatitis C

hepatitis D

hepatitis E

hereditary spherocytosis

herpes simplex

herpes zoster

Hodgkin's lymphoma

hookworm disease

human immunodeficiency virus

human T-cell lymphotropic virus type 1

Huntington's chorea

hyperthyroidism and thyrotoxicosis

hypopituitarism

hypothyroidism

immune thrombocytopaenic purpura

inflammatory bowel disease

inguinal hernia

ischaemic heart disease

Kaposi's sarcoma

leptospirosis

localised sclerosis

malaria

malignant melanoma of the skin

malignant neoplasm of bone and articular cartilage

malignant neoplasm of the anus and anal canal

malignant neoplasm of the bile duct

malignant neoplasm of the bladder

malignant neoplasm of the brain

malignant neoplasm of the breast

malignant neoplasm of the cerebral meninges

malignant neoplasm of the cervix

malignant neoplasm of the colorectum

malignant neoplasm of the endometrium

malignant neoplasm of the eye

malignant neoplasm of the gallbladder

malignant neoplasm of the larynx

malignant neoplasm of the liver

malignant neoplasm of the lung

malignant neoplasm of the nasopharynx

malignant neoplasm of the oesophagus

malignant neoplasm of the oral cavity, oropharynx and hypopharynx

malignant neoplasm of the ovary

malignant neoplasm of the pancreas

malignant neoplasm of the prostate

malignant neoplasm of the renal pelvis and ureter

malignant neoplasm of the salivary gland

malignant neoplasm of the small intestine

malignant neoplasm of the stomach

malignant neoplasm of the testis and paratesticular tissue

malignant neoplasm of the thyroid gland

malignant neoplasm of the urethra

malignant neoplasm of unknown primary site

Marfan syndrome

meliodosis

mesangial IgA glomerulonephritis

mesothelioma

methaemoglobinaemia

microscopic polyantiitis

moderate to severe traumatic brain injury

motor neurone disease

multiple osteochondromatosis

multiple sclerosis

myasthenia gravis

myelodysplastic disorder

myeloma

neoplasm of the pituitary gland

non-aneurysmal aortic atherosclerotic disease

non-Hodgkin's lymphoma

non-melanotic malignant neoplasm of the skin

obstructive and reflux neophropathy

opisthorchiasis

osteogensis imperfecta

osteomyelitis

panic disorder

Parkinson's disease and parkinsonism

peritonal adhesions

personality disorder

physical injury due to munitions discharge

poisoning and toxic reaction from plants and fungi

polyarteritis nodosa

polycythaemia vera

porphyria cutanea tarda

post-traumatic stress disorder

primary myelofibrosis

psoriasis

pulmonary barotrauma

pulmonary thromboembolism

rapidly progressing crescentic glomerulonephritis

relapsing polychondritis

renal artery atherosclerotic disease

renal stone disease

rheumatic heart disease

rheumatoid arthritis

Ross River virus infection

sarcoidosis

schistomosomiasis

schizophrenia

scrub typhus

sick sinus syndrome

sickle-cell disorder

sinusitis

sleep apnoea

smallpox

soft tissue sarcoma

somatic symptom disorder

steatohepatitis

strongyloidiasis

subarachnoid haemorrhage

subdural haematoma

substance use disorder

suicide and attempted suicide

systemic lupus erythematosus

systemic sclerosis

thromboagniitis obliterans

tinnitus

tuberculosis

vascular dementia

von Willebrand's disease

Wilson's disease

Schedule 2B

Lump sum compensation for permanent impairment

r 26E

Level of whole-person impairment (%)	Amount of lump sum compensation (\$)
0	0.00
1	0.00
2	0.00
3	0.00
4	0.00
5	2,500.00
6	2,748.33
7	3,021.33
8	3,321.45
9	3,651.37
10	4,014.07

Level of whole-person impairment (%)	Amount of lump sum compensation (\$)
11	4,555.16
12	5,117.11
13	5,696.76
14	6,297.25
15	6,920.23
16	7,562.51
17	8,228.84
18	8,917.67
19	9,632.14
20	10,370.76
21	11,135.02
22	11,924.99
23	12,743.86
24	13,591.63
25	14,468.32
26	15,377.09
27	16,316.40
28	17,287.80
29	18,294.50
30	19,336.57
31	20,413.93
32	21,529.87
33	22,684.32
34	23,880.49
35	25,116.80
36	26,398.13
37	27,722.77
38	29,093.95
39	30,514.93
40	31,984.09
41	33,504.64
42	35,078.12
43	36,707.83
44	38,393.77
45	40,139.05
46	41,945.39
47	43,814.34
48	45,749.12
49	47,751.37
50	49,824.22
51	51,969.34
52	54,189.91
53	56,487.58
54	58,865.48
	2 3,000.10

Level of whole-person impairment (%)	Amount of lump sum compensation (\$)
55	61,326.94
56	63,875.06
57	66,511.49
58	69,241.07
59	72,065.39
60	74,989.18
61	78,015.84
62	81,146.78
63	84,388.56
64	87,744.32
65	91,215.66
66	94,810.67
67	98,529.34
68	102,379.62
69	106,364.75
70	110,488.04
71	114,757.39
72	119,174.48
73	123,747.26
74	128,479.09
75	133,377.85
76	138,446.84
77	143,694.01
78	149,124.25
79	154,745.52
80	160,562.74
81	166,584.00
82	172,814.00
83	179,260.00
84	185,928.00
85+	192,826.00

Michael Webster, Clerk of the Executive Council.

Explanatory note

This note is not part of the regulations, but is intended to indicate their general effect. These regulations, which come into force on 7 December 2015, amend the Veterans' Support Regulations 2014 (the **principal regulations**). The principal regulations implemented the provisions of the Veterans' Support Act 2014 (the **Act**) that came into

force on 7 December 2014. These regulations implement the remaining provisions of the Act, which come into force on 7 December 2015.

In summary, these regulations relate to—

- the annual indexation of certain amounts to reflect increases in the Labour Cost Index (Salary and Wage rates) (including overtime) published by Statistics New Zealand (*new regulation 15A*):
- the annual indexation of certain entitlements to reflect increases in the Consumers Price Index (All Groups) published by Statistics New Zealand (new regulation 16A):
- the conditions specified for the purposes of the definition of accepted late-onset condition in section 7 of the Act (*new regulation 26A*):
- the payment of veterans' costs of transport in getting to and from treatment under section 88 of the Act (new regulation 26B):
- the ability of veterans entitled to the independence allowance to elect in accordance with section 96 of the Act to receive a lump sum payment in place of weekly payments of the independence allowance (new regulations 26C and 26D):
- the amount of lump sum compensation for permanent impairment payable under section 98 and Part 3 of Schedule 2 of the Act (*new regulation 26E*):
- the veterans' independence programme administered by Veterans' Affairs New Zealand under subpart 4 of Part 5 of the Act (*new regulations 26F and 26G*):
- the prescribed amount for the purposes of section 157(1)(b) of the Act (new regulation 41A):
- the payment of veterans' costs incurred in travelling to or from a medical assessment required under section 221(3) of the Act (new regulation 44A):
- the indexation and abatement of weekly compensation payable under Part 2 of Schedule 2 of the Act (*new regulations 71 and 72*):
- the amount of the weekly entitlement to payment for child care payable under clause 64 of Schedule 2 of the Act (*new regulation 73*).

These regulations also relocate an existing provision of the principal regulations (existing regulation 70A is relocated to *new regulation 74*).

Regulatory impact statement

Veterans' Affairs New Zealand produced a regulatory impact statement on 12 August 2015 to help inform the decisions taken by the Government relating to the contents of this instrument.

A copy of this regulatory impact statement can be found at—

- http://www.veteransaffairs.mil.nz/
- http://www.treasury.govt.nz/publications/informationreleases/ris

Issued under the authority of the Legislation Act 2012. Date of notification in *Gazette*: 29 October 2015.

Reprints notes

1 General

This is a reprint of the Veterans' Support Amendment Regulations (No 3) 2015 that incorporates all the amendments to those regulations as at the date of the last amendment to them.

2 Legal status

Reprints are presumed to correctly state, as at the date of the reprint, the law enacted by the principal enactment and by any amendments to that enactment. Section 18 of the Legislation Act 2012 provides that this reprint, published in electronic form, has the status of an official version under section 17 of that Act. A printed version of the reprint produced directly from this official electronic version also has official status.

3 Editorial and format changes

Editorial and format changes to reprints are made using the powers under sections 24 to 26 of the Legislation Act 2012. See also http://www.pco.parliament.govt.nz/editorial-conventions/.

4 Amendments incorporated in this reprint

Veterans' Support Amendment Regulations 2017 (LI 2017/37): regulation 8(1)(c)